DEANNA McBRIDE BIRDSONG

Attorney at Law

IN THE SUPREME COURT OF FLORIDA Florida, Texas Indiana, Mississippi RIDA BAR

2.1 Η, SID J.WHITE HUL 11 1995 CLERK, SUPREME COURT By_ Chief Deputy Clerk

VS

DEANNA BIRDSONG

Admitted To

Practice:

CASE NO. 84,128 tfb 93-10,494(13a)

SUPPLEMENTAL RESPONSE - reated as "Enitial By"

In addition to the Request for Review, Respondent would ask the Court to consider the following in its review of the Referee's Report:

Respondent received her license to practice law on October 9, 1974. This was seven years ofhard work, working a full time job during the week, a part time job on the weekend, going to school full time and raising two young children as a single parent. I say this not for sympathy but to indicate that I value my license. I have since worked very hard at helping people and I believe that in the opinion of most people who have come into contact with me, and I believe most, if not all, of the Judges that I routinely appear in front of and my peers would speak well of my ethics and integrity. It has been very upsetting to me for the Bar, through Steve Whalen, to allege otherwise.

I would ask the Court to consider that my strong opposition to the Complaint was directed to the allegation that I has assisted Mr. karimi in July 1992 when apparently he had prepared and sent to the attorney at the county legal services office a twenty five page letter response to a pleading filed by said attorney. The Referee found me not guilty of that charge and that I had not so assisted Mr. Karimi. The Referee appeared to be concerned that I did not appreciate the seriousness of the allegations, apparently because I defended myself on what was in fact a false allegation. I did and do appreciate the Referee's concern for compliance with court My respect for law and order is such that in over forty years of driving I orders. have received only one citation.

In 1985 I was included in Who's Who in American Law and most recently I was elected as an Honored Member of Who's Who Among Outstanding Americans. My three sons are proud of me, I am proud of me, my clients are proud of me, I hope the court does not find that my record should be blemished with a suspension of my license.

Thank you for your courtesy and consideration.



cc. 1 Stimucho

9228 N. 56th Street, Tampa, FL 33617 Phone: (813) 980-2565 Fax: (813) 980-3965

Alniled Blales Benale

WASHINGTON, D.C.

June 7, 1978

Ms. Eleanor Holmes Norton, Chairman Equal Opportunity Employment Commission 2401 E. Street, N.W. Washington, D.C. 20506

Dear Eleanor:

It has come to my attention that your legal recruiting unit is presently considering hiring a number of attorneys for posts with the EEOC around the country. There is a tremendously qualified woman I would like to recommend to you.

Deanna Birdsong, whose resume is enclosed, has been a great help to me in the past and served in the Marion County Indiana Prosecutor's Office. A recommendation from Prosecutor James Kelley is enclosed. She would do a fine job for the EEOC and I urge you to see to it that she receives every consideration.

If there is anything further I can do to be helpful to Deanna, I hope you will let me know.

With best personal regards,

ncelely, rch Bayh

United States Senator



Murrah Federal Buildung 200 N.W. Sh Street Oldahoma City, Oldahoma 73102-3202

÷.

July 5, 1985

MEMORATOOUM FOR: Bill Datey, Regional Counsel, 6G FROM: Charles Ming, Manager, p.7S SUBJECT: Detail of Deanna Birdsong

Thank you for allowing Ms. Deanna Birdsong to be detailed to the Oklahoma City office during the week of June 17-21, 1985.

Ms. Birdsong was extremely helpful in reducing our backlog of legal matters during her stay here. As you know, the Oklahoma City office has been operating with only one attorney since the resignation of David Shufelt.

During the performance of her legal duties, Ms. Birdsong was also involved in current programmatic matters. She was knowledgeable, decisive and conducted herself in the highest professional manner.

I was very pleased to have Ms. Birdsong here in Oklahoma City and hope you will see fit to allow her to return to act as Chief Counsel during Clarence Wilson's absence and to stay an extra week upon his return. We have committed to hire an Attorney Advisor who will come on board about August 15, 1985.

cc: 6G Birdsong Region VI 6S Moseley Region VI

1

Grand Rapida, Region V 2922 Fuller Avenue, NE Grand Rapida, Michigan 49505-3409

March 24, 1986

To Whom It May Concern:

For the past seven months, it has been a privilege to have Deanna Birdsong perform the duties of Chief Attorney in the Grand Rapids Office of the United States Department of Housing and Urban Development.

Ms. Birdsong's main responsibilities as Chief Attorney is to provide legal counsel, service, assistance, review and recommendations to all housing programs and activities.

Her performance is exemplary. Her dedication to duty, high ethical standards and service to the public is outstanding.

Sincerely,

Managér

word John



JAMES F. KELLEY PROSECUTOR CITY-COUNTY BUILDING INDIANAPOLIS. INDIANA 46204 PHONE 317 633-3522

A STATISTICS

December 17, 1976

TO WHOM IT MAY CONCERN:

For the past two years it has been my pleasure to employ Ms. Deanna Birdsong. She started here relatively fresh out of law school and with very little trial experience. She leaves my office as a seasoned trial lawyer.

Ms. Birdsong's main responsibility was the prosecution of all types of major felony cases. She specialized in sex offenses pursuant to an office policy that requires all major sex related cases to be prosecuted by a female lawyer. The combination of avid case preparation, knowledge of the criminal law and low-key style in the courtroom have made her one of my most effective and successful attorneys.

It is my opinion that Ms. Birdsong would be an asset to any law office. I recommend her highly for any position for which she might apply in the future.

Sincerely, JAMES F. KELLEY

JFK:mjs

Dear Ms. Birdsong:

On behalf of the United States Department of Energy I want to extend to you the Department's deepest appreciation for the excellent work that you did while serving as Assistant Regional Counsel.

Your dedication to duty, high ethical standards, and professional excellence were not only a major factor in achieving our goal to be of service to the public, but were also an inspiration to those of us who were fortunate enough to serve with you. You will be sorely missed by the Department of Energy.

We wish you the greatest success in your future endeavors. If at anytime I may be of assistance to you please do not hesitate to let me know. I am personally in your debt and hope that you will give me the opportunity to in some measure repay you.

Kindest personal regards,

Regional Counsel

have received only one citation.

In 1985 I was included in Who's Who in American Law and most recently I was elected as an Honored Member of Who's Who Among Outstanding Americans. My three sons are proud of me, I am proud of me, my clients are proud of me, I hope the court does not find that my record should be blemished with a suspension of my license.

Thank you for your courtesy and consideration.

cc. 1 Strawho

9228 N. 56th Street, Tampa, FL 33617 Phone: (813) 980-2565 Fax: (813) 980-3965