DEANNA MCBRIDE BIRDSONG,

Petitioner,

Case No. 84,128 TFB No. 94-10,494(13A)

v.

ì

THE FLORIDA BAR,

Respondent.

ANSWER BRIEF

IN THE SUPREME COURT OF FLORIDA

<u>OF</u>

THE FLORIDA BAR

STEPHEN C. WHALEN Assistant Staff Counsel The Florida Bar Suite C-49 Tampa Airport, Marriott Hotel Tampa, FL 33607 (813) 875-9821 Attorney No. 651941

#

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

#### SUMMARY OF ARGUMENT

The referee properly recommended that Respondent be found guilty to violating Rule 4-1.10(a), Rule 4-8.4(a), and Rule 4-8.4(d). The record established by clear and convincing evidence that the Respondent engaged in a conflict of interest when she continued to represent a client after receiving notice that her law partner had previously consulted with the opposing party regarding the subject matter of the litigation.

The record established by clear and convincing evidence, and the referee properly found that the Respondent violated the Rules of Professional Conduct when she continued to represent a client after receiving actual notice that a conflict of interest existed, and after the trial judge had disqualified her from such representation.

The record also established by clear and convincing evidence, and the referee properly found that the Respondent engaged in conduct prejudicial to the administration of justice when she knowingly and intentionally engaged in conduct which violated a valid court order by continuing to represent a client after the trial judge had disqualified her from doing so.

The record established by clear and convincing evidence that Respondent knowingly engaged in conduct which caused harm or

potential harm to a client, the parties, or the legal system; that she perpetrated a deceit upon the Court and the parties; that she deliberately and knowingly violated a court order; that she demonstrated a lack of candor during the disciplinary proceedings; she failed to demonstrate an acknowledgment and that or understanding of the inappropriateness of her actions. Additionally, Respondent has received prior discipline, has substantial experience in the practice of law, and continues to demonstrate a lack of remorse.

The Respondent has presented no valid legal argument which would show that any of the referee's findings of fact or conclusions of law are erroneous or unsupported in the record.

Similarly, the Respondent has presented no valid legal argument which would show that the referee's recommended disciplinary sanctions are incorrect.

Clearly, the evidence presented in the record herein, the applicable Standards, the relevant case law, and the aggravating and mitigating factors support the referee's recommended sanctions. The Florida Bar urges this Court to affirm the referee's findings of fact, conclusions of law, and recommended discipline.

ARGUMENT I: The Referee's findings of fact and conclusions of law are supported by clear and convincing evidence and should be upheld.

A referee's findings of fact are presumed correct and should be upheld unless clearly erroneous or lacking in evidentiary support. <u>The Florida Bar v. Stalnaker</u>, 485 So. 2d 815, 816 (Fla. 1986); <u>The Florida Bar v. Vannier</u>, 498 So. 2d 896 (Fla. 1986).

The referee herein listened to testimony and evidence presented by the parties, observed the demeanor of witnesses, and found Respondent to have engaged in the legal representation of Karimi after she had received actual notice of a conflict of interest (RR, p. 4), and that she continued such legal representation in violation of an order of the Circuit Court which disqualified her from doing so (RR, pp. 5-7). By this conduct, the referee found that Respondent violated Rules 4-1.10(a), 4-8.4(d), and 4-8.4(a), R. Regulating Fla. Bar (RR, pp. 7-8).

Respondent testified at the evidentiary hearing before the referee that she did not believe her actions violated either the spirit or the letter of the Order Disqualifying Counsel in that she was merely offering procedural advice. The referee found that this explanation "flies in the face of the overwhelming evidence." (RR, p. 7).

The referee, as fact finder, properly resolves conflicts in

the evidence. <u>The Florida Bar v. Hoffer</u>, 383 So. 2d 639, 642 (Fla. 1980). Regarding the issue of whether the Respondent's actions amounted to the legal representation of Karimi in violation of Judge Ficarrota's Order, the referee states "The undersigned finds that the testimony of Karimi and the evidence presented by the Bar constitute the more consistent and credible version of events." (RR, p. 6).

Additionally, the Respondent has presented no viable legal argument in either her Request to Review Recommended Sanctions or in her Supplemental Response which would show that any of the referee's findings of fact are erroneous or unsupported by the record.

Thus, the referee's findings of fact and conclusions of law are supported by clear and convincing evidence and should be upheld.

ARGUMENT II: The referee's recommendations as to disciplinary sanctions are supported by case law and the Florida Standards for Imposing Lawyer Sanctions and should be upheld.

It is the Bar's position that the referee's recommended sanctions are reasonable and warranted considering the Respondent's misconduct, the aggravating and mitigating factors, the relevant case law, and the Florida Standards for Imposing Lawyer Sanctions.

The Respondent argues that a suspension from the practice of law would be too harsh a discipline, claiming that the Standards only call for an admonishment (RRRS, p. 1). The Respondent further argues that a suspension would create an undue financial hardship on her and her employees and that she does not wish to have her professional record blemished with a suspension of her license (SR, p. 1).

In <u>The Florida Bar v. Lord</u>, 433 So. 2d 983, 986 (Fla. 1983), this Court defined the objectives of Bar discipline as follows:

"Discipline for unethical conduct by a member of The Florida Bar must serve three purposes: First, the judgment must be fair to society, both in terms of protecting the public from unethical conduct and at the same time not denying the public the services of a qualified lawyer as a result of undue harshness in imposing a penalty. Second, the judgment must be fair to the respondent, being sufficient to punish a breach of ethics and at the same time encourage reformation and rehabilitation. Third, the judgment must be severe enough to deter others who might be prone or tempted to become involved in like violations. (Court's emphasis)

The Florida Standards for Imposing Lawyer Sanctions provide a format for Bar counsel, referees, and this Court to determine the appropriate sanction n attorney disciplinary matters.

Standard 4.32 regarding failure to avoid conflicts of interest provides that absent aggravating or mitigating circumstances,

"Suspension is appropriate when a lawyer knows of a conflict of interest and does not fully disclose to a client the possible effect of that conflict, and causes injury or potential injury to a client."

As a result of Respondent's misconduct, Karimi did not retain new counsel for many months subsequent to the Order Disqualifying Counsel because he continued to rely on the Respondent. This reliance was at Respondent's invitation. In her letter to Karimi of May 8, 1992, Respondent suggests that Karimi represent himself as the agent of his father in the foreclosure trial and states, "I will go over trial preparation with you and the proper documents." Respondent further encouraged Karimi to rely on her for legal representation when she concluded the letter with "Call and we can discuss strategy." (TFB Exh. #4).

This type of ill-advised reliance on the Respondent had great potential for harm to Mr. Karimi's interests because he needed counsel with him throughout the litigation. The fact that there may not have been evidence of any actual loss due to Respondent's

misconduct does not eliminate the very real possibility of, and potential for harm to Karimi. Additionally, there is great potential for harm to the legal system when any lawyer knowingly and purposefully disobeys a valid court order

Respondent argues that Standard 4.34 is appropriate and that admonishment is the appropriate sanction because the referee did not find any evidence of actual harm to her client or the other party in the foreclosure action (RRRS, p. 1).

Standard 4.34 provides that admonishment is appropriate when a lawyer is <u>negligent</u> in determining whether the representation will adversely affect the client, and causes little or no injury or potential injury to a client. (emphasis added)

Respondent's misconduct, rather than involving a negligent determination as the Respondent contends, was knowing and deliberate. Respondent had actual notice of the conflict to interest at least as early as November 6, 1991, when the defendant's attorney furnished her with his Motion to Disqualify Counsel (TR, pp.12-13, 46-47; RR, p. 4). Yet, Respondent made an intentional and knowing decision to continue the legal representation and took no action to seek or obtain a waiver of conflict from the Williamses (TR, pp. 5-7).

Moreover, Respondent acted to continue the legal

representation behind the scenes even after Judge Ficarrota had issued his Order Disqualifying Counsel (RR, p. 5-7). There was conflicting testimony during the evidentiary hearing as to the date on which Respondent first informed Karimi that she had been disqualified as his attorney. It is clear, however, that Respondent failed to immediately inform Karimi of that fact so that he would have an opportunity to obtain successor counsel within thirty (30) days as required by the Court's Order.(TFB Exh. #4).

Thus, Respondent's misconduct constitutes a <u>knowing</u> conflict of interest with the potential for injury to a client which warrants her suspension from the practice of law pursuant to Standard 4.32.

Standard 6.22 regarding abuse of the legal process states that absent aggravating and mitigating circumstances,

"Suspension is appropriate when a lawyer knowingly violates a court order or rule, and causes injury to potential injury to a client or a party, or causes interference or potential interference with a legal proceeding."

Although the referee found no evidence that Respondent's misconduct caused actual injury to the parties (RR II, p. 4), Standard 6.22 would apply since this Standard does not require a showing of actual injury, but only the <u>potential</u> for such injury or interference with a legal proceeding.

The seriousness of the Respondent's conduct in deliberately seeking to contravene a judicial order cannot be overlooked, regardless of whether an injury actually accrued to the parties. Any time an attorney seeks to disobey a court's ruling, there is great potential for harm to the entire legal system. As correctly and aptly stated by the referee:

" ... the integrity and effectiveness of our system of justice is primarily dependent upon voluntary compliance with orders of our various courts. When a officer of the Court elects to disregard a valid Court Order, it is a matter of grave concern, whether such action is calculated or a result of ignorance. If we who are entrusted with the safekeeping of our system of justice are free to disregard with impunity the valid orders of our Courts, then we can neither expect nor demand more of the general public. (RR, p. 3).

Moreover, an attorney is not permitted to ignore and refuse to follow judicial orders based upon a belief that the imposition of the order would cause a detriment or hardship to the client. In <u>Rubin v. State</u>, 490 So. 2d 1001, 1003 (Fla. 3rd DCA 1986); 501 So. 2d. 1283 (Fla. 1986); *cert. denied*, 483 U.S. 1005, 107 S. Ct. 3228, 97 L. Ed. 2d 735 (1987), it was held that the need for obedience to a court order far outweighs any detriment to individuals who may be temporarily victimized by the order, even if the order were later found to be erroneous.

Respondent has asserted that her continued consultations with,

and legal assistance to Karimi after she was disqualified as counsel were somehow justified since her removal as counsel would cause a detriment to a client who could not afford to hire another attorney. This argument clearly is without merit when viewed in light of <u>Rubin</u>.

Moreover, Respondent received a benefit from her continued legal representation of Karimi after she received actual notice of the conflict of interest. Respondent's Verified Petition for Attorney's Fees filed in the foreclosure action shows that Respondent billed \$687.50 in fees after she became aware of the conflict and should properly have withdrawn from the representation.

Thus, Respondent's misconduct constitutes a knowing violation of a court order with the potential for injury to client or a party, and constitutes interference or potential interference with a legal proceeding which warrants her suspension pursuant to Standard 6.22.

Standard 7.2 regarding violations of duties owed as a professional provides that absent aggravating and mitigating circumstances,

"Suspension is appropriate when a lawyer knowingly engages in conduct that is a violation of a duty owed as a professional and causes injury or potential injury to a client, the public, or the legal system.

The Respondent knowingly and intentionally engaged in a pattern of conduct for several months after the Order Disqualifying Counsel which the referee found constituted a "behind-the-scene" legal representation of Karimi, and that statements in Respondent's letter to Karimi of May 8, 1992 actually solicited the continued informal legal representation (RR, p. 7).

Significantly, the Respondent did not file a Motion for Rehearing or take any other steps asking the Court to reconsider its Order Disqualifying Counsel, nor did the Respondent take any action to obtain the Court's permission prior to consulting with Karimi about the subject litigation. Additionally, Respondent provided no indication to the Court or anyone else which would indicate that she was engaging in consultation with Karimi regarding the subject litigation. Had it not been for the printout on the fax machine that showed Karimi's responsive pleading to the Motion for Default had actually come from the Birdsong & Smith law office, it is likely that the deception would have continued. In effect, Respondent's actions in failing to disclose her continuing involvement in the Karimi foreclosure action perpetrated a deception and a fraud upon the Court and the parties.

Thus, Respondent's misconduct clearly violated her duty as a

professional and as an officer of the Court. Such conduct warrants her suspension pursuant to Standard 7.2.

Standard 9.22 lists several aggravating factors which may justify or increase the degree of discipline. The referee found the following aggravating factors:

- (1) Blatant violation of a valid Court order;
- (2) Lack of acknowledgment and/or understanding of inappropriateness of conduct;
- (3) Lack of candor in the disciplinary proceedings; and
- (4) Experience in the practice of law. (RR II, p. 3).

The referee further explained that "The violation of the Order of Disqualification by the Respondent was a matter open and obvious to everyone involved, with the sole exception of the Respondent. Despite a career spanning twenty years, the Respondent is unwilling or unable to grasp the seriousness of her actions." (RR II, p. 3)

The referee also noted his concern for Respondent's lack of candor during the disciplinary proceedings (RR II, p.2). Respondent initially testified at the evidentiary hearing that she had no contacts with Karimi from the date of Judge Ficarrota's Order until October 14, 1992 when Karimi contacted her concerning the Motion for Default(TR, pp. 26-27). After the Bar introduced telephone records evidencing at least fifteen (15) telephone calls

to Respondent's office by Karimi during this period, Respondent acknowledged the contact, but insisted it was of a personal nature rather than consultations regarding the foreclosure litigation (TR, p.78-79). This argument was refuted by Karimi, who testified that the telephone calls were indeed for the purpose of obtaining Respondent's assistance and advice on the pending foreclosure litigation (TR, pp. 34-36).

Furthermore, Respondent falsely stated in her Answer to the Bar's Complaint that "Respondent has been practicing law for twenty years with no prior inferences or suggestions of improper conduct." The Respondent again affirmed this false statement in answer to Bar counsel's questioning during the sanctions hearing (DT, p. 97).

In fact, Respondent had previously entered into a consent judgment and received a public reprimand for professional misconduct by order of this Court dated January 27, 1994, in Case No. 81,644, <u>The Florida Bar v. Birdsong</u>, 634 So. 2d 628 (Fla. 1994).

As to mitigation, the referee found:

- (1) Lack of substantial prior disciplinary record;
- (2) Lack of evidence of lucre or impure motive;
- (3) Absence of evidence of harm to the client or opposing party; and

(4) Excessive work hours on the part of the Respondent.(RR II, p.4)

Respondent made assertions during the course of the disciplinary proceedings that she had an extremely large case load and that her busy law practice required her to work an excessive number of hours each week. Consequently, the referee attempted to assist the Respondent and protect her clients by recommending that she be required to complete a Florida Bar approved management course, complete a Florida Bar approved personal/professional time management course, and provide quarterly reports during the probation period attesting to the number of cases she is handling during a 55-hour maximum workweek (RR II, p. 5).

Respondent argues that it would be an "impossibility" for her to comply with the referee's reduced case load recommendation until such time as she can hire a competent attorney to assist in her office (RRRS, p. 2).

This argument is patently without merit. It is a simple matter for Respondent to cease accepting new clients until she can attain a manageable case load as recommended by the referee. The Bar concurs with the referee's recommendations that Respondent reduce her case load and urges this Court to adopt those recommendations.

The referee's recommended sanctions are similar to those imposed in <u>The Florida Bar v. Collier</u>, 385 So. 2d 95, 96 (Fla. 1980), in which the respondent had been extremely dilatory in the administration of an estate and failed to properly respond to and comply with orders issued by the Probate Court. This Court approved the uncontested report of referee and imposed the recommended sanction of a sixty (60) day suspension, probation for two (2) years with mandatory status reports on the handling of probate and guardianship cases, and assessment of the Bar's costs against the respondent.

In <u>The Florida Bar v. Jackson</u>, 494 So. 2d 206, 207 (Fla. 1986), the respondent refused to appear for a federal criminal trial on a religious holiday. On the morning the trial was scheduled to begin, Jackson filed a written motion to stay all proceedings during the religious holidays. The Court denied this motion on the grounds that Jackson had previously assured the Court that he would be available for trial on the dates in question and that a stay cold not be granted at that point in time, given the size and expense of the trial. After Jackson again refused to appear for trial, he was found in contempt.

Jackson is analogous to the instant case in that, like the Respondent herein, Jackson did not have a dishonest or selfish

motive. This Court found that regardless of the reasonableness of Jackson's sincere belief in the invalidity of the Trial Court's ruling, it could not condone his defiance of such ruling. Jackson was suspended for thirty (30) days. Id. at 209-210.

In <u>The Florida Bar v. Wishart</u>, 543 So. 2d 1250 (Fla. 1989), the respondent was the step-grandparent of a child who was the subject of a custody dispute. Wishart took possession of the child and refused to return her to the custodial parent despite a temporary restraining order which required the return of the child. Wishart also refused to obey a writ of habeas corpus issued by the Circuit Court that ordered him to surrender the child, claiming the writ was void for various reasons. This Court found the proper sanction for Wishart's misconduct to be suspension for three (3) years.

Like Wishart, the Respondent deliberately, wilfully, and knowingly disobeyed orders and judgments of the Circuit Court. As did Wishart, the Respondent also engaged in a continuing pattern of disobedience. The Court found Wishart, however, to have been impaired at the time of the misconduct due to his close personal and emotional involvement in the child custody matter. The Respondent can claim no such excuse.

In The Florida Bar v. Rubin, 549 So. 2d 1000, 1001 (Fla.

1989), the respondent represented a criminal defendant who he believed was going to commit perjury. Rubin petitioned the court for permission to withdraw. The court denied the petition and ordered Rubin to proceed to trial. Rubin then sought certiorari, which was denied by the Third District Court of Appeal. When Rubin refused to proceed to trial, the court issued a contempt order, which was also affirmed on appeal. Rubin eventually served thirty (30) days in jail as a result of the contempt citation.

The Bar subsequently prosecuted Rubin for disobeying an order of a tribunal. This Court found that after Rubin properly challenged the order and lost, it was incumbent upon him to follow the dictates of the trial court, and that his deliberate failure to do so constituted a violation of Bar disciplinary rules. <u>Id</u>. at 1003.

Recognizing that Rubin's conduct was, to a degree, a matter of conscious in that he was trying to protect himself from possibly assisting a client in perpetrating a fraud, this Court found the proper discipline for Rubin's misconduct to be a public reprimand. Id.

Respondent's misconduct is more egregious than that of Rubin in that she never undertook actions, as did Rubin, to challenge the validity of the court's ruling. Respondent made the decision that

since she did not agree with the ruling, she would defy the order. Furthermore, Respondent was not open and honest about the defiance, but engaged in activities which amounted to a contravention of the Order Disqualifying Counsel without the Court's knowledge.

In <u>The Florida Bar v. Lee</u>, 403 So. 2d 1336 (Fla. 1981), the respondent ceased representation of a client in a dissolution of marriage action without ever communicating that fact to the court or the client.

Lee's misconduct is analagous to the Respondent's misconduct in that there was no disclosure to the court. This Court approved the uncontested report of referee and suspended Lee for three (3) months.

In <u>The Florida Bar v. Mastrelli</u>, 614 So. 2d 1081, 1082 (Fla. 1993), the respondent undertook representation of two clients allegedly injured in an accident in which one client was the driver and one was the passenger in the same automobile. Mastrelli subsequently filed suit against the driver on behalf of the passenger. In effect, he filed suit against his own client in the same matter for which he had been retained.

Mastrelli argued, as does the Respondent herein, that his actions were merely negligent and caused no actual harm to his client. This Court found that Mastrelli either knew or should have

know that his clients' interests were adverse when he sued one on behalf of the other, and that there was potential that his actions would expose his client, the driver, to personal liability. Mastrelli was suspended for six (6) months.

The Respondent's argument that the proper discipline for her misconduct is an admonishment is also without merit when viewed in light of her prior discipline. Rule 3-5.1(b)(1), R. Regulating Fla. Bar, provides that an admonishment for minor misconduct is inappropriate when the respondent has been publicly disciplined in the past three years, or when the misconduct has caused injury or potential injury to a client.

The Respondent fails to raise any competent legal argument to the recommended disciplinary sanctions. Her claim that financial hardship would result to herself, her family, and her employees should she be suspended is simply not relevant to the issue of whether her misconduct rises to a level which would warrant a suspension pursuant to the Standards, the aggravating and mitigating circumstances, and the case law.

Likewise, Respondent's argument that a suspension would blemish her professional record is irrelevant, as is her argument that a suspension would cause hardship to her clients. Any time an attorney is suspended, even for a short period, there is bound to

be a detrimental effect on the respondent's financial condition. Likewise, the Bar, the referee, and this Court are aware that other attorneys must be engaged to handle the pending matters of Respondent's clients during a term of suspension. A recommendation for suspension is not taken lightly by the Bar, the referee, or this Court, and is only imposed when the respondent's conduct is so egregious as to warrant such penalty. As is evident in the record herein, the applicable Standards, and the relevant case law, Respondent's failure to withdraw after receiving actual notice of a conflict of interest and her flagrant violation of a valid court order warrants suspension.

Respondent's submission to this Court of letters of recommendation from former employers is likewise irrelevant and improper. Any evidence of good character or reputation which Respondent might want to present in mitigation should properly have been presented to the referee prior to or concurrent with the sanctions hearing, and not directly to this Court after the referee has issued his recommended sanctions.

Finally, the Respondent argues that the Bar's costs are excessive because her suspension would cause her financial difficulty. Rule 3-7.6(k)(1)(E), R. Regulating Fla. Bar, provides that the referee should provide to this Court, a statement of costs

incurred by The Florida Bar and recommendations as to the manner in which such costs should be taxed. The Respondent has failed to state a specific objection to any of the Bar's costs as inappropriate or excessive; therefore, the Bar's costs in the amount of \$2,369.99 should be assessed against the Respondent as recommended by the referee.

Clearly, the competent evidence presented in the record herein, the applicable Standards, the relevant case law, and the aggravating and mitigating circumstances support the referee's findings and recommendations.

Therefore, The Florida Bar respectfully requests that this Court enter an Order upholding the referee's recommended sanctions.

## CONCLUSION

The referee's findings, that the Respondent knowingly engaged in a conflict of interest, that the Respondent violated the Rules of Professional Conduct, and that the Respondent engaged in conduct prejudicial to the administration of justice when she knowingly and intentionally violated a valid Court order are supported by clear and convincing evidence and should be upheld.

The referee's recommended sanctions are reasonable and warranted in light of the Respondent's misconduct, the Respondent's prior discipline, the applicable Standards, the relevant case law, and the aggravating and mitigating circumstances.

The Florida Bar respectfully requests that this Court uphold the referee's findings of fact, conclusions of law, and recommended disciplinary sanctions.